RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Dec 14, 2016, 3:32 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

Court of Appeals No. 48016-6-II

SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MARK AVOLIO, JOHN BAKER, MAUREEN DeARMOND, and ANDY MERKO,

petitioners,

٧.

CEDARS GOLF, LLC,

respondent.

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW BY THE WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

Mark A. Erikson, WSBA #23106
Erikson & Associates, PLLC
Attorney for Mark Avolio, John Baker,
Maureen Dearmond, and Andy Merko,
as petitioners
110 West 13th Street
Vancouver, WA 98660-2904
Telephone (360) 696-1012
E-mail: mark@eriksonlaw.com
kris@eriksonlaw.com

I. Identity of Petitioner
II. Citation to Court of Appeals Decision
III. Issues Presented for Review
IV. Statement of the Case
V. Argument
ISSUE 1: Whether this petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be resolved by the Supreme Court regarding competence limitations on administrative collateral estoppel?
ISSUE 2: Whether the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with decisions of the Supreme Court?
ISSUE 3: Whether a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or the United States is involved?
VI. Conclusion
<u>Appendices</u> Avolio v. Cedars Golf, No. 48016-6-II, 2016 WL 6708089 (Nov. 15, 2016)
Washington Statutes
RCW 2.08.010
RCW 36.70A.070 A-10
RCW 36.70A.110 A-16
RCW 36.70C.010
PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW - i AVOM0102.ToC03.wpd

RCW 58.17.110	A-22
RCW 58.17.215	A-23
Battle Ground Municipal Code	
BGMC 2.10.080	A-24

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Washington Cases

Asche v. Bloomquist, 132 Wash.App. 784, 133 P.3d 475 (2006)
Avolio, et al., v. Cedars Golf, No. 48016–6-II, 2016 WL 6708089 1, 6, 7, 8, 9, 15, 17, 19
Berg v. Hudesman, 115 Wash,2d 657, 801 P.2d 222 (1990)
<i>Christensen v. Grant County Hospital</i> , 152 Wash.2d 299, 96 P.3d 957 (2004)
DePhillips v. Zolt Construction, 136 Wash.2d 26, 959 P.2d 1104 (1998)
<i>Didlake v. Washington</i> , 186 Wash.App. 417, 345 P.3d 43 (2015)
Durland v. San Juan County, 182 Wash.2d 55, 340 P.3d 191 (2014)
Hayes v. Seattle, 131 Wash.2d 706, 934 P.2d 1179, 943 P.2d 265 (1997)
Hollis v. Garwall, 137 Wash.2d 683, 974 P.2d 836 (1999)
<i>Knight v. Yelm</i> , 173 Wash.2d 325, 267 P.3d 973 (2011)
Lakey v. Puget Sound Energy, 176 Wash.2d 909, 296 P.3d 860 (2013)

Philadelphia II v. Gregoire, 128 Wash.2d 707, 911 P.2d 389 (1996)
Post v. Tacoma, 167 Wash.2d 300, 217 P.3d 1179 (2009)
Reninger v. DOC, 134 Wash.2d 437, 951 P.2d 782 (1998)
Riss v. Angel, 131 Wash.2d 612, 934 P.2d 669 (1997)
Ruano v. Spellman, 81 Wash.2d 820, 505 P.2d 447 (1973)
Schwab v. Seattle, 64 Wash.App. 742, 826 P.2d 1089 (1992)
Shoemaker v. Bremerton, 109 Wash.2d 504, 745 P.2d 858 (1987)
Stevedoring Services v. Eggert, 129 Wash.2d 17, 914 P.2d 737 (1996)
<i>Tyrpak v. Daniels</i> , 124 Wash.2d 146, 874 P.2d 1374 (1994)
Viking Properties v. Holm, 155 Wash.2d 112, 118 P.3d 322 (2005)
<i>Wilkinson v. Chiwawa Communities</i> , 180 Wash.2d 241, 327 P.3d 614 (2014)
Woods View II v. Kitsap County, 188 Wash.App. 1, 352 P.3d 807 (2015)

Federal Cases

United States v. Utah Construction & Mining, 384 U.S. 394, 86 S.Ct. 1545, 16 L.Ed.2d 642 (1966)
Washington Statutes
RCW 2.08.010
Chapter 36.70A RCW
RCW 36.70A.07012
RCW 36.70A.110
Chapter 36.70C RCW
RCW 36.70C.010
RCW 36.70C.040
RCW 58.17.110
RCW 58.17.215
Battle Ground Municipal Code
BGMC 2.10.080

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Mark Avolio, John Baker, Maureen DeArmond, and Andrew Merko, plaintiffs and appellants in prior proceedings, seek discretionary review by the Washington Supreme Court of the following decision terminating review:

* * *

II. CITATION TO THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioners seek review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review in *Avolio*, *et al.*, *v. Cedars Golf*, No. 48016-6-II, 2016 WL 6708089, entered November 15, 2016, a copy of which is appended hereto as *A-1*.

* * *

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

ISSUE 1: Whether this petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be resolved by the Supreme Court regarding competence limitations governing administrative collateral estoppel?

ISSUE 2: Whether the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court?

ISSUE 3: Whether a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or the United States is involved?

* * *

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A plat of The Cedars – Phase I, residential subdivision, was "approved and accepted" by the Board of Clark County Commissioners on December 14, 1972. *CP 272*. A "Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions" dated February 23, 1973, was filed for record at Clark County Auditor's File No. G27415 on March 5, 1973, encumbering "The Cedars" (the "1973 Declaration") *CP 203*; *231*. The 1973 Declaration includes a prohibition that "[n]o lot as platted shall be resubdivided into separate building sites." *CP 209*. The term "lot" is defined to include designated building lots "plus any Towne House erected on Towne House areas." *CP 204*.

The 1973 Declaration includes usual language defining the property encumbered:

WHEREAS, Declarant is the owner of certain property in Clark County, State of Washington, which is more particularly described in **Exhibit "A"** attached and by this reference made a part hereof. . . .

CP 203, emphasis added. A potential ambiguity results from incorporation of an Exhibit C from which additional land that may be annexed:

"Properties" shall mean and refer to that certain real property hereinbefore described, together with such additional land within the area described on **Exhibit "C"** attached as may be annexed by the Declarant or assignees without the consent of the members within seven (7) years of the date of this instrument. . . .

CP 204, 217, emphasis added. Exhibit A to the 1973 Declaration describes all of The Cedars, while Exhibit C is nearly coextensive with Exhibit A, with the exception of approximately ten acres located in the northeast corner, not at issue in the present case. *CP 202*, In. 5-14, *CP 232*.

The Dedication of the Cedars Phase II, dated June 12, 1980, incorporates "any protective covenants, conditions and restrictions" by reference:

We, the undersigned owners of the above described land do hereby lay out and Plat the same into streets and lots, as shown upon the official plat of "THE CEDARS PHASE II", filed concurrently herewith in the plat records of Clark County, Washington. However the ownership, use and enjoinment of the lots therein are subject to the easements as shown thereon and to any protective covenants, conditions and restrictions, which shall run with the land and be for the mutual benefit and protection of all lots within the land and be for the mutual benefit and protection of all lots within said plat and the owners thereof, and which by reference is made a part hereof.

CP 336, CP 343, emphasis added. The plat of Phase II includes a note incorporating the 1973 Declaration:

The Cedar Pacific Properties, Inc., in recording this plat of the "Cedars Phase-II" has designated certain areas of land as Nature Trails intended for use by the Homeowners in "The

Cedars-Phase II" for recreation and other related activities. The designated areas are not dedicated for use by the general public but are dedicated for the common use and enjoyment of the Homeowners of "The Cedars-Phase II" as more fully provided for in the Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions applicable to "The Cedars-Phase I" dated February 23, 1973, and is incorporated in, and made a part of this plat.

CP 236, emphasis added. No provision in the 1973 Declaration deals with "Nature Trails."

Petitioner Avolio owns Lot 6, and petitioners DeArmond and Merko own Lot 7, located in Phase II of the Cedars, *CP 1-2*, depicted at *CP 236*. Petitioner Baker owns Lot 9 located in Phase I. *CP 2*. Respondent Cedars Golf owns Lots 1 and 8 located in Phase II, comprising 6.93 acres which remain vacant. *CP 2-3*, depicted at *CP 236*.

After annexation to the City of Battle Ground, Haertl Development (Cedars Golf's predecessor in interest) filed an application to subdivide its Lots 1 and 8 of Phase II into 13 residential lots and four environmental tracts. *CP 45*; depicted at *CP 268*. The City required a plat alteration under RCW 58.17.215 because the proposal required deletion of a note on the recorded plat designating the subject property as "Townhouse Area." *CP 236*.

All of the petitioners submitted comment to the hearing examiner, opposing the proposed plat alteration. Petitioners Avolio, DeArmond and

Merko were represented by legal counsel, who argued non-compliance with RCW 58.17.215. *CP 101-05*; *CP 143-46*. Petitioner Baker was not represented by counsel, and argued environmental impacts:

I am a long-term resident in the Cedars I community. As you know, much of the Cedars and Salmon Creek is high-quality riparian habitat. A 200-foot buffer is required on Salmon Creek, and this must be respected during any development plans. I am concerned that property development might be given priority over environmental needs (as they too often are).

CP 139.

On July 22, 2014, Cedars Golf received approval from the Battle Ground hearing examiner to subdivide its property into 13 residential lots and four environmental tracts. *CP 262*; depicted at *CP 268*. The examiner's decision included a finding that "the plat alteration complies with RCW 58.17.215," and that "the proposed subdivision will not result in a violation of a covenant" because "restrictive covenants were never adopted by The Cedars Phase II subdivision." *CP 257*. Hence, the examiner concluded that the proposal "should be approved, because it does or can comply with the applicable standards of the Battle Ground Municipal Code and the Revised Code of Washington." *CP 257*.

Petitioner Avolio appealed the approval under LUPA; however, the

other petitioners did not participate. Clark County Superior Court affirmed the hearing examiner's decision on March 20, 2015. *CP 151-153*, ln. 18-20. The petitioners did not appeal the Superior Court's decision.

Petitioners filed the underlying action on June 3, 2015, to enforce the prohibition against further subdivision in the 1973 Declaration. *CP 1*. The trial court granted Cedars Golf's motion for summary judgment from the bench on August 20, 2015. *CP 369*. An order denying petitioner's motion for reconsideration was entered August 28, 2015. *CP 369-70*. An order granting Cedar's Golf's motion for summary judgment, and denying petitioners' cross-motion, was entered September 4, 2015. *CP 371-74*.

All of the petitioners appealed and the Court of Appeals affirmed the Superior Court decision on November 15, 2016, holding as follows:

[A] party who either declines to challenge a hearing examiner's final order or who challenges a hearing examiner's decision by way of a LUPA petition and then declines to exhaust its right to appeal beyond the superior court may not then bring an entirely separate suit seeking a second determination of the same rights and remedies at issue during the earlier proceeding.

Avolio at 8. While noting that "[t]he doctrine of collateral estoppel prevents the endless relitigation of issues already litigated by the parties and decided by a competent tribunal," Avolio at 4; the Court of Appeals held that "the

examiner did not 'interpret or enforce' the CCRs [because] he found that the CCRs did not apply to Phase II," and because: "it would be illogical to conclude that a hearing examiner may deny or approve applications for subdivision alterations under RCW 58.17.215 without considering the very submission criteria that the statute requires." *Avolio* at 6. As to petitioner Avolio, the Court held that "the prior adjudication at issue was before the superior court, not the hearing examiner." *Avolio* at 5.

* * *

V. ARGUMENT

ISSUE 1: Whether this petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be resolved by the Supreme Court regarding competence limitations on administrative collateral estoppel?

Although the present case is not moot, and conflicting decisions are discussed below, the element of substantial public interest raises a compelling basis for discretionary review:

This analysis comprises three factors: "(1) whether the issue is of a public or private nature; (2) whether an authoritative determination is desirable to provide future guidance to public officers; and (3) whether the issue is likely to recur."

Philadelphia II v. Gregoire, 128 Wash.2d 707, 712, 911 P.2d 389 (1996).

In the present case, the Court of Appeals held that "the doctrine of

at 1. In addition to standard elements, three factors are unique in the application of collateral estoppel to administrative findings:

(1) whether the agency acting within its competence made a factual decision; (2) agency and court procedural differences; and (3) policy considerations.

Reninger v. DOC, 134 Wash.2d 437, 450, 951 P.2d 782 (1998); citing Stevedoring Services v. Eggert, 129 Wash.2d 17, 40, 914 P.2d 737 (1996); and Shoemaker v. Bremerton, 109 Wash.2d 504, 508, 745 P.2d 858 (1987).

Administrative collateral estoppel is limited to factual findings, while "[i]nterpretation of a restrictive covenant is a question of law." *Wilkinson v. Chiwawa Communities*, 180 Wash.2d 241, 250-51, 327 P.3d 614 (2014). The U.S. Supreme Court applies preclusion to administrative determinations when the "agency is acting in a judicial capacity and resolves disputed *issues of fact properly before it* which the parties have had an adequate opportunity to litigate." *United States v. Utah Construction & Mining*, 384 U.S. 394, 422, 86 S.Ct. 1545, 1560, 16 L.Ed.2d 642 (1966), emphasis added.

¹Collateral estoppel requires that: "(1) the issue decided in the earlier proceeding was identical to the issue presented in the later proceeding, (2) the earlier proceeding ended in a judgment on the merits, (3) the party against whom collateral estoppel is asserted was a party to, or in privity with a party to, the earlier proceeding, and (4) application of collateral estoppel does not work an injustice on the party against whom it is applied." *Christensen v. Grant County Hospital*, 152 Wash.2d 299, 307, 96 P.3d 957 (2004).

The Court's holding that "the examiner did not 'interpret or enforce' the CCRs [because] he found that the CCRs did not apply to Phase II," *Avolio* at 6, raises an issue of law governed by the parol evidence rule:

[T]he "parol evidence rule" precludes use of parol evidence to add to, subtract from, modify, or contradict the terms of a fully integrated written contract, i.e., one which is intended as a final expression of the terms of the agreement.

DePhillips v. Zolt Construction, 136 Wash.2d 26, 32, 959 P.2d 1104 (1998). Black's defines the term "parol evidence" as follows:

Oral or verbal evidence; that which is given by word of mouth; the ordinary kind of evidence given by witnesses in court. In a particular sense, and with reference to contracts, deeds, wills, and other writings, parol evidence is the same as extraneous evidence or evidence *aliunde*.

Black's Law Dictionary, 6th Ed., at 1117.

While not all parole evidence is factual in nature, any factual evidence showing that Phase II is not encumbered would be parol or extraneous to the 1973 Declaration. The parol evidence rule precludes administrative findings regarding the only real issue in the present case: whether Phase II is encumbered by the 1973 Declaration. Hence, there is simply no administrative determination that could preclude court review; determinations of law have no preclusive effect, and factual determinations regarding the 1973 Declaration are prohibited by the parole evidence rule.

The first prong of the collateral estoppel rule includes a second criteria: whether the agency acted "within its competence." *Reninger*, 134 Wash.2d at 450. Administrative competence under the *Land Use Petition Act*, Chapter 36.70C RCW (LUPA) is limited to land use regulations, interpretations and approvals. *Viking Properties v. Holm*, 155 Wash.2d 112, 130, 118 P.3d 322 (2005) (city had no authority to enforce or invalidate restrictive covenants). The plat alteration statute provides as follows:

If the subdivision is subject to restrictive covenants which were filed at the time of the approval of the subdivision, and the application for alteration would result in the violation of a covenant, **the application shall contain** an agreement signed by all parties subject to the covenants providing that the parties agree to terminate or alter the relevant covenants to accomplish the purpose of the alteration of the subdivision or portion thereof. . . .

RCW 58.17.215, emphasis added. The foregoing paragraph is a *submittal* requirement ("the application shall contain"); it includes no authority to interpret restrictive covenants. Even under the most sympathetic reading, the foregoing delegates authority only to determine whether the subdivision is subject to a restrictive covenant that would preclude the proposed alteration, not to construe legal descriptions and apply rules of law interpreting the covenant. We note that the subjunctive "would" is more often used to designate counter-factual propositions than factual assertions.

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW - 10 AVOM0102,P01,wpd

The governing statute goes on to confer competence upon the examiner to determine "public use and interest:"

The legislative body shall determine the public use and interest in the proposed alteration and may deny or approve the application for alteration....

RCW 58.17.215, emphasis added. This is the same criteria that applies to plat approval generally. RCW 58.17.110(1), (2). The foregoing provision does *not* "necessarily imply" authority to interpret covenants because the express delegation is limited to *public* use and interest, not *private* use and interest. A restrictive covenant is inherently private, and the examiner is not competent to resolve disputes between private parties. BGMC 2.10.080(A).

In 1999 the Washington Supreme Court held that "the Berg ['context rule'] applies to judicial interpretation of restrictive covenants," noting that "the primary goal in interpreting covenants that run with the land is to determine the intent or purpose of the covenants." *Hollis v. Garwall*, 137 Wash.2d 683, 686, 693-95, 974 P.2d 836 (1999); citing *Berg v. Hudesman*, 115 Wash.2d 657, 668-69, 801 P.2d 222 (1990); and *Riss v. Angel*, 131 Wash.2d 612, 623, 934 P.2d 669 (1997). The *Hollis* decision noted that "admissible evidence does not include:

• Evidence of a party's unilateral or subjective intent as to the meaning of a contract word or term;

- Evidence that would show an intention independent of the instrument; or
- Evidence that would vary, contradict or modify the written word.

Hollis, 683 Wash.2d at 695. In applying the context rule, the Court excluded the affidavit of an original owner attesting that "the developers intended the restriction to apply to the smaller lots but not to the larger ones," as "unilateral and subjective intent of 1 of 10 of the original contracting parties." Hollis, 137 Wash.2d at 696. In addition, the Court observed that the affidavit "contradicts the language of the plat which, itself, terms the limitation on use a 'restriction:'

This plat is approved as a residential subdivision and no tract is to have more than one single family residential unit. Conversion of any lot to other than its authorized occupancy must be in accordance with authorizations associated with separate application and procedure.

Hollis, 137 Wash.2d at 696, 687, emphasis original.

In the present case, context for the 1973 Declaration did not include the *Growth Management Act*, Chapter 36.70A RCW (1990 1st ex.s. c 17), which requires counties to "designate an urban growth area or areas within which urban growth shall be encouraged and outside of which growth can occur only if it is not urban in nature." RCW 36.70A.110(1). The *Act*

requires a land use element including "population densities, building intensities, and estimates of future population growth." RCW 36.70A.070. As a result of growth management, large remainders left over from county subdivisions are annexed by municipalities at zoning densities incompatible with restrictive covenants, which were adopted consistent with historic limitations based upon maximum rather than minimum density.

Although interpretation and enforcement of the 1970 Declaration is a private concern, the generalization of similar concerns across entire counties reveals the public nature of the issue. This issue is likely to recur as municipalities continue to annex historic subdivisions, including remainders, as is their mandate under the *Growth Management Act*. Hence, an authoritative determination is desirable to provide future guidance to public officers, as well as landowners facing present and future zoning conflicts, from the clash between historic development patterns and LUPA rules.

* * *

ISSUE 2: Whether the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with decisions of the Supreme Court?

The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with this Court's decision in Lakey v. Puget Sound Energy, 176 Wash.2d 909, 296 P.3d 860 (2013).

In *Lakey*, neighbors who failed to appeal under LUPA were not barred from inverse condemnation claims alleging that electro-magnetic fields from an approved power substation threatened their use and enjoyment of land, because: (i) they sought compensation, "not . . . judicial review or reversal of the height, setback, or buffer variances," and (ii) they were "not invoking the superior court's appellate jurisdiction and LUPA [did] not govern their claim." *Lakey*, 176 Wash.2d at 926, 928. Accord *Woods View II v. Kitsap County*, 188 Wash.App. 1, 25, 352 P.3d 807, *review denied*, 184 Wash.2d 1015, 360 P.3d 818 (2015). In the present case, the petitioners do not challenge the administrative determination nor LUPA review thereof. They did not invoke the Superior Court's appellate jurisdiction, and LUPA does not govern their claims.

The Court in *Woods View II* summarized the holding in *Ashe v. Bloomquist*, that "a damage claim may still be controlled by LUPA if it is dependent on 'an interpretive decision regarding the application of a zoning ordinance." *Woods View II*, at 9, quoting *Asche v. Bloomquist*, 132 Wash.App. 784, 801, 133 P.3d 475 (2006), *review denied*, 159 Wash.2d 1005, 153 P.3d 195 (2007). The Court in *Asche* noted:

The Asches' public nuisance claim depends entirely upon finding the building permit violates the zoning ordinance.

Specifically, they argue, "[b]ecause the project violates the zoning code, the project constitutes a public nuisance."

Asche, 132 Wash.App. at 801. In Asche, the administrative decision was preclusive as to land ordinance violations within administrative competence. In the present case, enforcement of the covenant is not dependent upon administrative determinations regarding the application of land ordinances. Land ordinances regulate plat amendment, not restrictive covenants; hence, covenant enforcement is outside of administrative competence.

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