RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Jan 17, 2017, 5:02 pm

## **RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY**

Supreme Court Case No. 93999-1

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# MARK AVOLIO, JOHN BAKER, MAUREEN DeARMOND, and ANDY MERKO,

Petitioners,

v.

CEDARS GOLF, LLC,

Respondent.

## ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW BY THE WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

Damien R. Hall,WSBA No. 47688 Email: dhall@balljanik.com Adele J. Ridenour, WSBA No. 35939 Email: aridenour@balljanik.com BALL JANIK, LLP 101 SW Main Street, Suite 1100 Portland, OR 97204 Telephone: 503.228.2525 Facsimile: 503.226.3910

Attorneys for Respondent

#

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

### **IV. ARGUMENTS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED**

The *Peition* fails to demonstrate that any of the four conditions of

RAP 13.4(b) are met: (1) the decision of the Court of Appeals is in

conflict with a decision of the Washington Supreme Court; (2) the

decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of

the Court of Appeals; (3) a significant question of law under the

Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is

involved; or (4) the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest

that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b).

# A. The Court of Appeals' Decision is consistent with this Court's opinions in *Lakey*, *Hayes*, *Woods View II*, and *Asche*.

The *Petition* argues that the Unpublished Opinion is in conflict with this Court's opinions in *Lakey v. Puget Sound Energy, Inc.*, 176 Wn.2d 909, 296 P.3d 860 (2013) and *Hayes v. City of Seattle*, 131 Wn.2d 706, 709, 934 P.2d 1179, 1180 (1997), *opinion corrected*, 943 P.2d 265 (Wash. 1997), and the opinions of the Court of Appeals in *Woods View II v. Kitsap County*, 188 Wash.App. 1, 352 P.3d 807, *review denied*, 184 Wash.2d 1015, 360 P.3d 818 (2015) and *Asche v. Bloomquist*, 132 Wash.App. 784, 133 P.3d 475 (2006), *review denied*, 153 Wash.2d 1005, 153 P.3d 195 (2007). However, these opinions are readily distinguished from the facts of this case and are consistent with the Unpublished Opinion.

Each of the cases cited in the *Petition* deals with whether courts have jurisdiction to hear a claim for <u>monetary damages</u> arising from a land use decision if such a claim is filed outside of the LUPA process. These opinions consistently hold that courts do have such jurisdiction to hear claims that are limited to monetary damages, do not require application of zoning codes, and do not challenge or seek to overturn the underlying land use decision. Here, Petitioners seek to overturn the subdivision of the Lots and seek no monetary compensation. Thus, finding the Petitioners are barred by collateral estoppel, as the Court of Appeals does in its Unpublished Opinion, is consistent with the opinions in *Lakey*, *Hayes*, *Woods View II*, and *Asche*.

Lakey and Hayes both deal with different underlying land use claims that were adjudicated through the LUPA process, and were followed by separate claims for compensation. In *Lakey*, the claim was for inverse condemnation. *Lakey*, 176 Wn.2d at 909. In *Hayes*, the claim was for arbitrary imposition of restrictions on a previously-granted development approval. *Hayes*, 31 Wn.2d at 706, 710. *Woods View II* and *Asche* deal with development-related claims against local governments that were brought outside of the LUPA process. In *Woods View II*, the court allowed claims for damages associated with tortious interference and negligence. *Woods View II*, 88 Wash.App., at 24-25. In *Asche*, the court held that claims for public nuisance required application of the zoning code and were dependent on the validity of a land use decision, and therefore must be brought under LUPA. *Asche*, 132 Wash. App., at 800-801.

Petitioners' claim is dependent upon questioning the validity of the land use decision approving subdivision of the Lots, and therefore is preempted by the LUPA action. No claim for monetary damages has been made. Thus, each of the cases cited by Petitioners is consistent with and supports the holding in the Unpublished Opinion. Furthermore, unlike the other cases, the very issue re-raised by Petitioners was raised and decided in the LUPA action.

# B. The Court of Appeals' Decision does not involve a question of law under State of Washington or United States Constitutions.

The Unpublished Opinion does not impair any private contractual rights under the CC&Rs. Instead, the Unpublished Opinion simply applies the doctrine of collateral estoppel to prevent Petitioners from further litigating an issue which they have already litigated and lost. Tellingly, the *Petition* argues that an impairment of a contractual right only occurrs if RCW 58.17.215 "authorizes the hearing examiner to determine that the [CC&Rs] are unenforceable." *Petition*, p. 18. The Hearings Examiner and the Superior Court did not declare the CC&Rs to be unenforceable. Rather each hold the CC&Rs are simply not applicable to the Lots. Thus, by the very terms of the *Petition*, no impairment of a private contract has occurred.

Petitioners' argument about separation of powers ignores the content of the land use decision made by the Hearing Examiner and Judge Gonzales. The decision applies RCW 58.25.215, as is required of a local government in order to review a subdivision alteration. Application of this statute is not the exclusive original jurisdiction of the courts, as Petitioners appear to infer. Additionally, Petitioners rely on the language of RCW 2.08.010 in support of their separation of powers argument. The language of RCW 2.08.010 is not found in the Constitutions of the State of Washington or in the U.S. Constitution, and this Court can accordingly discount this argument.

Finally, Petitioners argue that their due process rights are at issue because the LUPA process afforded them no "meaningful" opportunity to be heard. This argument is belied by the facts, as the Petitioners all participated in the City land use process, and Petitioner Avolio was heard on appeal by Judge Gonzales, the others having accepted the Hearing Examiner's decision as final. The Unpublished Opinion adequately disposes of this issue in stating that:

> [Petitioners] had a full and fair opportunity to litigate the issue before the hearing examiner and on appeal to the superior court and, importantly, they were represented by counsel. Procedurally, collateral estoppel does not work an injustice. [Petitioners] claim that collateral estoppel works an injustice based on 'disparity of relief.' However, there is no such disparity of relief ... The relief would have been identical had the [Petitioners] succeeded before the hearing examiner, in the superior court LUPA petition, or in the superior court declaratory judgment action.

In sum, CG has prevailed before the City, the Superior Court (twice), and the Court of Appeals, all on the same arguments over the same land use decision. In each instance, had Petitioners' prevailed, they would have achieved their desired remedy of stopping the subdivision of the Lots. Thus, no due process or other Constitutional questions of law are involved in the Unpublished Opinion.

# C. The Court of Appeals' Decision does not involve an issue of public interest.

Resolution of whether Petitioners are precluded from re-arguing the meaning of private covenants does not involve an issue of public interest. Here, the CC&Rs are a contract between private parties only, the application and meaning of which has no bearing on the broader public. Petitioners acknowledge this point, stating that "interpretation and enforcement of the [CC&Rs] is a private concern ... " *Petition*, p. 13. However, Petitioners attempt to remedy this infirmity by creating a theory under which the application of Washington's Growth Management Act ("GMA") to property with existing covenants should somehow give rise to the ability to re-litigate issues and claims already settled under the LUPA process. Such reasoning does not demonstrate sufficient public interest, and this Court should deny the *Petition*.

Petitioners' arguments do not demonstrate a public interest. The criteria to be considered in determining whether a sufficient public interest is involved are: (1) the public or private nature of the question presented; (2) the desirability of an authoritative determination which will provide future guidance to public officers; and (3) the likelihood that the question Petitioners request this Court's review.<sup>3</sup> Thus, even if this Court were to find credibility in Petitioners' assertion of the interplay of private contracts and the GMA creating a public issue, that issue would remain inapposite to this Court's review.

Finally, the Court of Appeals issued an unpublished opinion. No matter how well reasoned, unpublished opinions of the Court of Appeals lack precedential value, in part because they merely restate wll-established principles. *State v. Nysta* (2012) 168 Wash.App. 30, 275 P.3d 1162. as amended, *review denied* 177 Wash.2d 1008, 302 P.3d 180.

For these reasons, the GMA is not implicated by the underlying claim, and there is not public issue to be resolved.

ii. No authoritative determination is required to guide public decision-makers.

The Unpublished Opinion undertakes a commonplace collateral estoppel analysis and makes the unambiguous holding this final land use decisions has a preclusive effect, consistent with the Legislature's intent to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> "Each party also raises issues pertaining to their respective motions for summary judgment and the merits of the underlying claims. For instance, the appellants contend that the CCRs are unambiguous in that they clearly apply to all property within The Cedars. We decline to address these issues. First, we need not address these matters because we hold that the superior court properly dismissed this action. Second, the superior court made no ruling regarding these issues. Third, the record is insufficiently developed to address the merits even if we felt compelled to do so." *Avolio*, 2016 WL 6708089 at \*15, FN 6,

define an exclusive jurisdiction and endpoint for land use decisions.<sup>4</sup> This provides clear guidance to the public decision-makers that their decisions are not subject to serial litigation. It also provides clear guidance to property owners and development opponents that the LUPA process is the venue under which land use decisions are determined, and that neither side gets a second bite at the apple by bringing serial actions litigating the same claims and issues. Had the roles of the parties been reversed and CG disagreed that the Hearings Examiner and Judge Gonzales lacked authority to consider the effect of the CC&Rs on a proposed subdivision, this Court can readily assume that Petitioners would cry out "Already Decided!" Further, such finality of land use decisions is consistent with the intent of LUPA, and allows a modicum of certainty regarding the ability to develop real property.

Conversely, attempting to identify and carve out an exception for some indeterminate set of land use decisions that can be subsequently relitigated will cause confusion among local government decision-makers. Petitioners fail to clearly enumerate any bright-line rule for the exception to established preclusion law that they seek. This Court is faced with a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> "A party who either declines to challenge a hearing examiner's final order or who challenges a hearing examiner's decision by way of a LUPA petition and then declines to exhaust its right to appeal beyond the superior court may not then bring an entirely separate suit seeking a second determination of the same rights and remedies at issue during the earlier proceeding." *Avolio*, 2016 WL 6708089 at \*8.

slim record and no evidence or briefing on the scope or consequences of creating some new category of land use decisions that are not final under LUPA. Thus, granting review of this case would only create unnecessary uncertainty amongst local government decision-makers.

## iii. <u>It is unlikely that this issue will recur</u>.

There is no history of this issue having occurred. The Legislature adopted RCW 58.17.215 in 1987 and the GMA in 1990. Petitioners have failed to identify any example of private contractual rights being overridden by local zoning during the 27 years these two statures have supposedly been in conflict. This issue is not likely to recur or impact any significant number or people.

The *Petition* represents nothing more than the failure of Petitioners to prevail in prior proceedings and the decision of the Petitioners not to utilize the appeal rights available to them. Rather than do so, they instead seek to further frustrate the City's subdivision approval by re-litigating the very issue they told the City prevented the subdivision approval. Thus, this Court should deny the *Petition*.

#### **D.** Arguments on the Merits

Petitioners argue that the Unpublished Opinion improperly relies on parole evidence, and that the Hearing Examiner lacks competence to approve the subdivision of the Lots. These arguments do not address the RAP 13.4 criteria for accepting review, but instead appear to be directed at the merits of the collateral estoppel. As such, this Court should disregard these arguments.

However, a brief discussion of these arguments is probative of their limited merit. Petitioners appear to argue that the parole evidence rule has been violated, yet identify no parole evidence relied on in any proceeding. This argument appears not to have been raised before the Court of Appeals. Petitioners' assertions about the inability of the Hearings Examiner to make land use decisions suffers from similar infirmities. Should Petitioners' be correct that only factual determinations under LUPA (and not legal determinations) are afforded preclusive value, then there would no longer be any finality of land use decision in the State of Washington. Any legal determination, such as compliance with a discretionary zoning code standard, would be subject to re-litigation in the courts. This is not the intent of LUPA.

### **IV. CONTINGENT CLAIMS**

Should this Court accept Review, Respondent preserves the following claims which were made before the Court of Appeals.

• The sole jurisdiction for Petitioners' claim is under LUPA. The claim for declaratory relief is not consistent with LUPA timing and filing requirements, thus the courts lack jurisdiction to hear the Petitioners' claim for declaratory relief.

This Court should act in equity to award attorney fees to CG, due to the frivolous nature of the serial appeals by Petitioner, and Petitioners' attempt to avoid the attorney fees under RCW
 4.84.370 by failing to appeal further under the LUPA process.

#### V. CONCLUSION

For the above-stated reasons, Respondent requests that this Court deny review of the Unpublished Opinion.